
GRANT BUDGET

  
Object

 Line-item 
Reference

EXPENSE OBJECT LINE-ITEM CATEGORY 1

(detail schedule(s) attached as applicable) GRANT CONTRACT GRANTEE MATCH 3 TOTAL PROJECT

1 Salaries2
$4,252,500.00 $0.00 $4,252,500.00

2 Benefits & Taxes 
$1,082,532.00 $0.00 $1,082,532.00

4, 15 Professional Fee/ Grant & Award 2
$4,000.00 $0.00 $4,000.00

5 Supplies
$12,000.00 $0.00 $12,000.00

6 Telephone
$23,332.00 $0.00 $23,332.00

7 Postage & Shipping
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

8 Occupancy
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

9 Equipment Rental & Maintenance
$62,492.00 $0.00 $62,492.00

10 Printing & Publications
$500.00 $0.00 $500.00

11, 12 Travel/ Conferences & Meetings2
$42,635.00 $0.00 $42,635.00

13 Interest 2
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

14 Insurance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

16 Specific Assistance To Individuals2
$12,800.00 $0.00 $12,800.00

17 Depreciation 2
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

18 Other Non-Personnel 2
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

20 Capital Purchase 2
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

22 Indirect Cost (0% of S&B)
$498,109.00 $0.00 $498,109.00

24 In-Kind Expense
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

25 GRAND TOTAL
$5,990,900.00 $0.00 $5,990,900.00

2  Applicable detail follows this page if line-item is funded.
3  A Grantee Match Requirement is detailed by this Grant Budget, and the maximum total amount reimbursable by the State pursuant to 
this Grant Contract, as detailed by the “Grant Contract” column above, shall be reduced by the amount of any Grantee failure to meet the 
Match Requirement.

ATTACHMENT A

(BUDGET PAGE 1)

1  Each expense object line-item shall be defined by the Department of Finance and Administration Policy 03, Uniform Reporting 
Requirements and Cost Allocation Plans for Subrecipients of Federal and State Grant Monies, Appendix A . (posted on the Internet at: 
https://www.tn.gov/assets/entities/finance/attachments/policy3.pdf).

Mental Health Cooperative - Overall
APPLICABLE PERIOD:  The grant budget line-item amounts below shall be applicable only to expense incurred during the grant 
period.



GRANT BUDGET

  
Object

 Line-item 
Reference

EXPENSE OBJECT LINE-ITEM CATEGORY 1

(detail schedule(s) attached as applicable) GRANT CONTRACT GRANTEE MATCH 3 TOTAL PROJECT

1 Salaries2
$1,846,400.00 $0.00 $1,846,400.00

2 Benefits & Taxes 
$461,600.00 $0.00 $461,600.00

4, 15 Professional Fee/ Grant & Award 2
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

5 Supplies
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

6 Telephone
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

7 Postage & Shipping
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

8 Occupancy
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

9 Equipment Rental & Maintenance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

10 Printing & Publications
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

11, 12 Travel/ Conferences & Meetings2
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

13 Interest 2
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

14 Insurance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

16 Specific Assistance To Individuals2
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

17 Depreciation 2
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

18 Other Non-Personnel 2
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

20 Capital Purchase 2
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

22 Indirect Cost (0% of S&B)
$200,400.00 $0.00 $200,400.00

24 In-Kind Expense
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

25 GRAND TOTAL
$2,508,400.00 $0.00 $2,508,400.00

2  Applicable detail follows this page if line-item is funded.
3  A Grantee Match Requirement is detailed by this Grant Budget, and the maximum total amount reimbursable by the State pursuant to 
this Grant Contract, as detailed by the “Grant Contract” column above, shall be reduced by the amount of any Grantee failure to meet the 
Match Requirement.

ATTACHMENT A

(BUDGET PAGE 1)

1  Each expense object line-item shall be defined by the Department of Finance and Administration Policy 03, Uniform Reporting 
Requirements and Cost Allocation Plans for Subrecipients of Federal and State Grant Monies, Appendix A . (posted on the Internet at: 
https://www.tn.gov/assets/entities/finance/attachments/policy3.pdf).

EPS
APPLICABLE PERIOD:  The grant budget line-item amounts below shall be applicable only to expense incurred during the grant 
period.



GRANT BUDGET LINE-ITEM DETAIL
 (BUDGET PAGE 2)

SALARIES  AMOUNT
Name Title Salary x Percentage 

of Time
Lawless, Carly Registered Nurse Lead EPS              88,583.32 x 100%  $                         88,583.32 

Mikel, Suzanne Registered Nurse - EPS              85,724.31 x 100%  $                         85,724.31 

Williams, Margaret Registered Nurse Lead EPS              81,770.81 x 100%  $                         81,770.81 

Washington, Tekisha Crisis Supervisor              75,801.04 x 100%  $                         75,801.04 

Armentrout, Lewis Registered Nurse - EPS              74,822.84 x 100%  $                         74,822.84 

Crockett, Christopher Crisis Counselor              73,523.76 x 100%  $                         73,523.76 

Moore, Rachel Crisis Counselor              61,304.23 x 100%  $                         61,304.23 

Wright, Kelly Triage Counselor              60,871.53 x 100%  $                         60,871.53 

Hammer, Jonathan Crisis Supervisor              60,418.02 x 100%  $                         60,418.02 

Johnson, Lisa Crisis Counselor              57,547.69 x 100%  $                         57,547.69 

Kelly, Melanie Crisis Counselor              57,115.00 x 100%  $                         57,115.00 

Myrick, Andrew Crisis Counselor              56,374.34 x 100%  $                         56,374.34 

Wolf, Taylor Crisis Counselor              56,170.95 x 100%  $                         56,170.95 

Hicks, Christina Crisis Counselor              55,779.52 x 100%  $                         55,779.52 

Vanbergen, Ruth Sr. VP EPS            210,201.48 x 26%  $                         54,652.38 

Amos-Luckett, Sharron Triage Supervisor              54,119.90 x 100%  $                         54,119.90 

Baker, Lorissa Crisis Counselor              53,812.99 x 100%  $                         53,812.99 

Burchfield, Alexis Crisis Counselor              53,299.72 x 100%  $                         53,299.72 

Castleman, Brighton Crisis Counselor              51,251.15 x 100%  $                         51,251.15 

Ivens, Rissa Medical Director EPS            333,618.62 x 15%  $                         50,042.79 

Summers, Kira Triage Counselor              47,774.67 x 100%  $                         47,774.67 

Williams, Dominique Triage Counselor              45,915.35 x 100%  $                         45,915.35 

Arnold, Todd Mental Health Technician              43,917.12 x 100%  $                         43,917.12 

Polk, Marvell Mental Health Technician              43,841.88 x 100%  $                         43,841.88 

Cole, Samantha Mental Health Technician              42,962.40 x 100%  $                         42,962.40 

Snell, Shatira Triage Counselor              42,783.87 x 100%  $                         42,783.87 

Catlin, Chelsea Triage Counselor              41,746.27 x 100%  $                         41,746.27 

Banks, Sydney PRN Mental Health Technician              39,780.00 x 100%  $                         39,780.00 

Bostic, Quenitra Mental Health Technician              38,188.80 x 100%  $                         38,188.80 

Sweat, Keshonna Mental Health Technician              38,188.80 x 100%  $                         38,188.80 

Allen, Lachelle Mental Health Technician              37,797.29 x 100%  $                         37,797.29 

Scarlett, Nathan PRN Mental Health Technician              35,802.00 x 100%  $                         35,802.00 

Cockrill, Darcy Advanced Practice Nurse            162,930.86 x 18%  $                         29,327.56 

Holmes, Elizabeth Administrative Manager              55,386.00 x 100%  $                         55,386.00 

ROUNDED TOTAL  $               1,846,400.00 



GRANT BUDGET

  
Object

 Line-item 
Reference

EXPENSE OBJECT LINE-ITEM CATEGORY 1

(detail schedule(s) attached as applicable) GRANT CONTRACT GRANTEE MATCH 3 TOTAL PROJECT

1 Salaries2
$1,759,200.00 $0.00 $1,759,200.00

2 Benefits & Taxes 
$439,800.00 $0.00 $439,800.00

4, 15 Professional Fee/ Grant & Award 2
$4,000.00 $0.00 $4,000.00

5 Supplies
$6,000.00 $0.00 $6,000.00

6 Telephone
$17,000.00 $0.00 $17,000.00

7 Postage & Shipping
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

8 Occupancy
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

9 Equipment Rental & Maintenance
$42,292.00 $0.00 $42,292.00

10 Printing & Publications
$500.00 $0.00 $500.00

11, 12 Travel/ Conferences & Meetings2
$16,635.00 $0.00 $16,635.00

13 Interest 2
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

14 Insurance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

16 Specific Assistance To Individuals2
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

17 Depreciation 2
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

18 Other Non-Personnel 2
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

20 Capital Purchase 2
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

22 Indirect Cost (0% of S&B)
$207,773.00 $0.00 $207,773.00

24 In-Kind Expense
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

25 GRAND TOTAL
$2,493,200.00 $0.00 $2,493,200.00

3  A Grantee Match Requirement is detailed by this Grant Budget, and the maximum total amount reimbursable by the State pursuant to 
this Grant Contract, as detailed by the “Grant Contract” column above, shall be reduced by the amount of any Grantee failure to meet the 
Match Requirement.

ATTACHMENT A

(BUDGET PAGE 1)

PIC
APPLICABLE PERIOD:  The grant budget line-item amounts below shall be applicable only to expense incurred during the grant 
period.

1  Each expense object line-item shall be defined by the Department of Finance and Administration Policy 03, Uniform Reporting 
Requirements and Cost Allocation Plans for Subrecipients of Federal and State Grant Monies, Appendix A . (posted on the Internet at: 
https://www.tn.gov/assets/entities/finance/attachments/policy3.pdf).
2  Applicable detail follows this page if line-item is funded.



GRANT BUDGET LINE-ITEM DETAIL
 (BUDGET PAGE 2)

SALARIES   AMOUNT
Name - Title Salary x Percentage 

of Time
+ # of 

Months 
Working

Counselor Crisis CIT                   5,453.81 x 100% x 12  $                          65,445.67 

Counselor Crisis CIT                   5,544.00 x 100% x 12  $                          66,528.05 

Counselor Crisis CIT                   5,186.79 x 100% x 12  $                          62,241.48 

Counselor Crisis CIT                   4,811.61 x 100% x 12  $                          57,739.35 

Counselor Crisis CIT                   4,777.03 x 100% x 12  $                          57,324.40 

Counselor Crisis CIT                   4,495.22 x 100% x 12  $                          53,942.62 

Counselor Crisis CIT                   4,986.23 x 100% x 12  $                          59,834.81 

Counselor Crisis CIT                   4,668.11 x 100% x 12  $                          56,017.33 

Counselor Crisis CIT                   4,635.26 x 100% x 12  $                          55,623.14 

Counselor Crisis CIT                   4,841.00 x 100% x 12  $                          58,092.05 

Counselor Crisis CIT                   4,462.37 x 100% x 12  $                          53,548.42 

Counselor Crisis CIT                   4,564.39 x 100% x 12  $                          54,772.68 

Counselor Crisis CIT                   4,564.39 x 100% x 12  $                          54,772.68 

Counselor Crisis CIT                   4,564.39 x 100% x 12  $                          54,772.68 

Counselor Crisis CIT                   4,873.00 x 100% x 12  $                          58,476.00 

Counselor Crisis CIT                   4,873.00 x 100% x 12  $                          58,476.00 

Counselor Crisis CIT                   4,873.00 x 100% x 12  $                          58,476.00 

Counselor Crisis CIT                   4,873.00 x 100% x 12  $                          58,476.00 

Counselor Crisis CIT                   4,873.00 x 100% x 12  $                          58,476.00 

Counselor Crisis CIT                   4,873.00 x 100% x 12  $                          58,476.00 

Counselor Crisis CIT                   4,873.00 x 100% x 12  $                          58,476.00 

Counselor Crisis CIT                   4,873.00 x 100% x 12  $                          58,476.00 

Co-Response Supervisor                   5,425.00 x 100% x 12  $                          65,100.00 

Co-Response Supervisor                   4,987.50 x 100% x 12  $                          59,850.00 

Co-Response Supervisor                   5,741.94 x 100% x 12  $                          68,903.30 

Co-Response Supervisor                   5,384.00 x 100% x 12  $                          64,608.00 

PIC Follow-up Coord                   3,376.75 x 100% x 12  $                          40,521.00 

PIC Follow-up Coord                   3,376.75 x 100% x 12  $                          40,521.00 

Director Co-Response Svcs                   9,187.50 x 90% x 12  $                          99,225.00 

Sr. VP PR & Community Dev - Interim                 17,506.37 x 20% x 12  $                          42,015.29 

ROUNDED TOTAL  $               1,759,200.00 

PROFESSIONAL FEE/ GRANT & AWARD AMOUNT

$4,000.00 

ROUNDED TOTAL  $                       4,000.00 

TRAVEL/ CONFERENCES & MEETINGS AMOUNT
 $                          16,635.00 

ROUNDED TOTAL  $                     16,635.00 



GRANT BUDGET

  
Object

 Line-item 
Reference

EXPENSE OBJECT LINE-ITEM CATEGORY 1

(detail schedule(s) attached as applicable) GRANT CONTRACT GRANTEE MATCH 3 TOTAL PROJECT

1 Salaries2
$646,900.00 $0.00 $646,900.00

2 Benefits & Taxes 
$181,132.00 $0.00 $181,132.00

4, 15 Professional Fee/ Grant & Award 2
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

5 Supplies
$6,000.00 $0.00 $6,000.00

6 Telephone
$6,332.00 $0.00 $6,332.00

7 Postage & Shipping
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

8 Occupancy
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

9 Equipment Rental & Maintenance
$20,200.00 $0.00 $20,200.00

10 Printing & Publications
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

11, 12 Travel/ Conferences & Meetings2
$26,000.00 $0.00 $26,000.00

13 Interest 2
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

14 Insurance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

16 Specific Assistance To Individuals2
$12,800.00 $0.00 $12,800.00

17 Depreciation 2
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

18 Other Non-Personnel 2
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

20 Capital Purchase 2
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

22 Indirect Cost (0% of S&B)
$89,936.00 $0.00 $89,936.00

24 In-Kind Expense
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

25 GRAND TOTAL
$989,300.00 $0.00 $989,300.00

3  A Grantee Match Requirement is detailed by this Grant Budget, and the maximum total amount reimbursable by the State pursuant to 
this Grant Contract, as detailed by the “Grant Contract” column above, shall be reduced by the amount of any Grantee failure to meet the 
Match Requirement.

ATTACHMENT A

(BUDGET PAGE 1)

REACH
APPLICABLE PERIOD:  The grant budget line-item amounts below shall be applicable only to expense incurred during the grant 
period.

1  Each expense object line-item shall be defined by the Department of Finance and Administration Policy 03, Uniform Reporting 
Requirements and Cost Allocation Plans for Subrecipients of Federal and State Grant Monies, Appendix A . (posted on the Internet at: 
https://www.tn.gov/assets/entities/finance/attachments/policy3.pdf).
2  Applicable detail follows this page if line-item is funded.



GRANT BUDGET LINE-ITEM DETAIL
 (BUDGET PAGE 2)

SALARIES  AMOUNT
Name - Title Salary x Percentage 

of Time
REACH Co-Response TL Kelsey Taylor            70,391.88 x 100%  $       70,391.88 

REACH Director Michael Randolph          124,306.88 x 10%  $       12,430.69 

REACH Crisis Co-Res Counselor Kiara Haynes            56,000.00 x 100%  $       56,000.00 

REACH Crisis Co-Res Counselor Tonya Wilburn            59,962.50 x 100%  $       59,962.50 

REACH Crisis Co-Res Counselor Marry Morrow            56,393.53 x 100%  $       56,393.53 

REACH Crisis Co-Res Counselor Katelyn Johnston            55,000.00 x 100%  $       55,000.00 

REACH Crisis Co-Res Counselor OPEN            60,000.00 x 100%  $       60,000.00 

REACH Follow Up Coordinator Jeremy Reese (New Hire)            52,531.25 x 100%  $       52,531.25 

REACH Follow Up Coordinator OPEN (closed for now after 
increasing Jeremy's FTE)

           52,531.25 x 0%  $                   -   

REACH Crisis Co-Res Counselor - FY26 NEW OPEN            60,000.00 x 100%  $       60,000.00 

REACH Crisis Co-Res Counselor - FY26 NEW OPEN            60,000.00 x 100%  $       60,000.00 

REACH Crisis Co-Res Supervisor - FY26 NEW OPEN            70,391.88 x 100%  $       70,391.88 

On Call            33,800.00 x 100%  $       33,800.00 

x  $                   -   

ROUNDED TOTAL  $  646,900.00 

PROFESSIONAL FEE/ GRANT & AWARD AMOUNT

ROUNDED TOTAL  $                -   

TRAVEL/ CONFERENCES & MEETINGS AMOUNT

ROUNDED TOTAL  $                -   

SPECIFIC ASSISTANCE TO INDIVIDUALS AMOUNT

ROUNDED TOTAL  $                -   



{N0273726.3}

BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT 

This agreement is initiated by and between THE METROPOLITAN GOVERNMENT OF 
NASHVILLE AND DAVIDSON COUNTY (METRO), a metropolitan form government 
organized and existing under the laws and constitution of the State of Tennessee 
("Metro" or “Covered entity”) and Mental Health Cooperative, Inc ("Business 
Associate"). 

SECTION 1 – DEFINITIONS 

a. Business Associate. “Business Associate” shall generally have the same
meaning as the term “Business Associate” in 45 CFR § 160.103, and in
reference to the party to this agreement, shall mean Mental Health
Cooperative, Inc.

b. Covered Entity. “Covered Entity” shall generally have the same meaning as the
term “covered entity” at 45 CFR § 160.103, and in reference to the party to this
agreement, shall mean Metro, which must fall under one of the following
categories:

(1) A health plan.

(2) A health care clearinghouse.

(3) A health care provider who transmits any health information in electronic
form in connection with a transaction covered by this subchapter.

c. Disclosure. “Disclosure” means the release, transfer, provision of access to, or
divulging in any manner of information outside the entity holding the information.

d. Electronic Media. “Electronic Media” shall have the same meaning as set forth
in 45 CFR § 160.103.

e. Employer. “Employer” is defined as it is in 26 U.S.C. § 3401(d).

f. Genetic Information. “Genetic Information” shall have the same meaning as set
forth in 45 CFR § 160.103.

g. HITECH Standards. “HITECH Standards” means the privacy, security and
security Breach notification provisions under the Health Information Technology
for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act, Final Rule of 2013, and any
regulations promulgated thereunder.

Attachment B



 

{N0273726.3}  

h.  Individual. "Individual" shall have the same meaning as set forth in 45 CFR § 
160.103 and shall include a person who qualifies as a personal representative in 
accordance with 45 CFR § 164.502(g). 

 
i.  Person. "Person" means a natural person, trust or estate, partnership, 

corporation, professional association or corporation, or other entity, public or 
private. 

 
j.  Privacy Rule. "Privacy Rule" shall mean the Standards for Privacy of Individually 

Identifiable Health Information at 45 CFR Part 160 and Part 164, Subparts A and 
E. 

 
k.  Protected Health Information. "Protected Health Information" or “PHI”: 
 

(1) Shall have the same meaning as set forth in 45 CFR § 160.103. 
 

(2)  Includes, as set forth in 45 CFR § 160.103, any information, now also 
including genetic information, whether oral or recorded in any form or 
medium, that: 

 
(i)  Is created or received by a health care provider, health plan, public 

health authority, employer, life insurer, school or university, or 
health care clearinghouse; and 

 
(ii)  Relates to the past, present, or future physical or mental health or 

condition of an individual; the provision of health care to an 
individual; or the past, present, or future payment for the provision 
of health care to an individual. 

 
l.  Required By Law. "Required By Law" shall have the same meaning as the term 

"required by law" in 45 CFR § 164.103. 
 
m.  Secretary. "Secretary" shall mean the Secretary of the Department of Health and 

Human Services or his designee. 
 
n.  Security Rule. "Security Rule" shall mean the Standards for Security of 

Individually Identifiable Health Information at 45 CFR part 160 and subparts A 
and C of part 164. 

 
o.  Subcontractor. “Subcontractor” means a person to whom a business associate 

delegates a function, activity, or service, other than in the capacity of a member 
of the workforce of such business associate. 

 
 
 
 



 

{N0273726.3}  

p.  Transaction. “Transaction” shall have the same meaning as set forth in 45 CFR 
§ 160.103. 

 
q.  Catch-all definition. Terms used but not otherwise defined in this Agreement 

shall have the same meaning as the meaning ascribed to those terms in the 
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”), the Health 
Information Technology Act of 2009, as incorporated in the American Recovery 
and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (“HITECH Act”), implementing regulations at 45 
Code of Federal regulations Parts 160-164 and any other current and future 
regulations promulgated under HIPAA or the HITECH Act. 

 
SECTION 2 - OBLIGATIONS AND ACTIVITIES OF BUSINESS ASSOCIATE 
 
a.  Permitted Uses of Protected Health Information. Business Associate shall not 

use or disclose Protected Health Information other than as permitted or required 
by this Agreement or as Required by Law. Business Associate may: 1) use and 
disclose PHI to perform its obligations under its contract with Metro; (2) use PHI 
for the proper management and administration of Business Associate; and (3) 
disclose PHI for the proper management and administration of Business 
Associate, if such disclosure is required by law or such disclosure is authorized 
by Metro.  

 
b.  Safeguards. Business Associate shall use appropriate administrative, physical 

and technical safeguards to prevent use or disclosure of the Protected Health 
Information other than as provided for by this Agreement. Business Associate 
shall develop and implement policies and procedures that comply with the 
Privacy Rule, Security Rule, and the HITECH Act. The Business Associate must 
obtain satisfactory assurances that any subcontractor(s) will appropriately 
safeguard PHI. 

 
c.  Mitigation. Business Associate shall mitigate, to the extent practicable, any 

harmful effect that is known to Business Associate of a use or disclosure of 
Protected Health Information by Business Associate in violation of the 
requirements of this Agreement. 

 
d.  Notice of Use or Disclosure, Security Incident or Breach. Business Associate 

shall notify Metro of any use or disclosure of PHI by Business Associate not 
permitted by this Agreement, any Security Incident (as defined in 45 C.F.R. 
section 164.304) involving Electronic PHI, and any Breach of Protected Health 
Information within five (5) business days. 

 



 

{N0273726.3}  

(i)  Business Associate shall provide the following information to Metro within 
ten (10) business days of discovery of a Breach except when despite all 
reasonable efforts by Business Associate to obtain the information 
required, circumstances beyond the control of the Business Associate 
necessitate additional time. Under such circumstances, Business 
Associate shall provide to Metro the following information as soon as 
possible and without unreasonable delay, but in no event later than thirty 
(30) calendar days from the date of discovery of a Breach:  

 
(1)  The date of the Breach; 

 

(2)  The date of the discovery of the Breach; 
 

(3)  A description of the types of PHI that were involved; 
 

(4)  identification of each individual whose PHI has been, or is 
reasonably believed to have been, accessed, acquired, or 
disclosed; and 

 
(5)  Any other details necessary to complete an assessment of the risk 

of harm to the Individual. 
 

(ii)  Business Associate shall cooperate with Metro in investigating the breach 
and in meeting Metro’s notification obligations under the HITECH Act and 
any other security breach notification laws. 

 
(iii)  Business Associate agrees to pay actual costs for notification after a 

determination that the Breach is significant enough to warrant such 
measures. 

 
(iv)  Business Associate agrees to establish procedures to investigate the 

Breach, mitigate losses, and protect against any future Breaches, and to 
provide a description of these procedures and the specific findings of the 
investigation to Metro in the time and manner reasonably requested by 
Metro. 

 
(v)  Business Associate shall report to Metro any successful: (1) unauthorized 

access, use, disclosure, modification, or destruction of Electronic 
Protected Health Information; and (2) interference with Business 
Associate’s information systems operations, of which Business Associate 
becomes aware. 
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e.  Compliance of Agents. Business Associate agrees to ensure that any agent, 
including a subcontractor, to whom it provides Protected Health Information 
received from, or created or received by Business Associate on behalf of Metro, 
agrees to the same restrictions and conditions that apply through this Agreement 
to Business Associate with respect to such information. 

 
f.  Access. Business Associate agrees to provide access, at the request of Metro, 

and in the time and manner designated by Metro, to Protected Health Information 
in a Designated Record Set, to Metro or, as directed by Metro, to an Individual, 
so that Metro may meet its access obligations under 45 CFR § 164.524, HIPAA 
and the HITECH Act. 

 
g.  Amendments. Business Associate agrees to make any amendment(s) to 

Protected Health Information in a Designated Record Set that Metro directs or 
agrees at the request of Metro or an Individual, and in the time and manner 
designated by Metro, so that Metro may meet its amendment obligations under 
45 CFR § 164.526, HIPAA and the HITECH Act. 

 
h.  Disclosure of Practices, Books, and Records. Business Associate shall make 

its internal practices, books, and records relating to the use and disclosure of 
Protected Health Information received from, or created or received by Business 
Associate on behalf of, Metro available to Metro, or at the request of Metro to the 
Secretary, in a time and manner designated by Metro or the Secretary, for 
purposes of determining Metro's compliance with the HIPAA Privacy Regulations. 

 
i.  Accounting. Business Associate shall provide documentation regarding any 

disclosures by Business Associate that would have to be included in an 
accounting of disclosures to an Individual under 45 CFR § 164.528 (including 
without limitation a disclosure permitted under 45 CFR § 164.512) and under the 
HITECH Act. Business Associate shall make the disclosure Information available 
to Metro within thirty (30) days of Metro’s request for such disclosure Information 
to comply with an individual’s request for disclosure accounting. If Business 
Associate is contacted directly by an individual based on information provided to 
the individual by Metro and as required by HIPAA, the HITECH Act or any 
accompanying regulations, Business Associate shall make such disclosure 
Information available directly to the individual. 

 
j.  Security of Electronic Protected Health Information. Business Associate 

agrees to: (1) implement administrative, physical, and technical safeguards that 
reasonably and appropriately protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability 
of the Electronic Protected Health Information that it creates, receives, maintains 
or transmits on behalf of Metro; (2) ensure that any agent, including a 
subcontractor, to whom it provides such information agrees to implement 
reasonable and appropriate safeguards to protect it; and (3) report to Metro any 
security incident of which it becomes aware. 
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k.  Minimum Necessary. Business Associate agrees to limit its uses and 
disclosures of, and requests for, PHI: (a) when practical, to the information 
making up a Limited Data Set; and (b) in all other cases subject to the 
requirements of 45 CFR 164.502(b), to the minimum amount of PHI necessary to 
accomplish the intended purpose of the use, disclosure or request. 

 
l.  Compliance with HITECH Standards. Business Associate shall comply with the 

HITECH Standards as specified by law. 
 
m.  Compliance with Electronic Transactions and Code Set Standards: If 

Business Associate conducts any Standard Transaction for, or on behalf, of 
Metro, Business Associate shall comply, and shall require any subcontractor or 
agent conducting such Standard Transaction to comply, with each applicable 
requirement of Title 45, Part 162 of the Code of Federal Regulations. Business 
Associate shall not enter into, or permit its subcontractor or agents to enter into, 
any Agreement in connection with the conduct of Standard Transactions for or on 
behalf of Metro that: 

 
(i)  Changes the definition, Health Information condition, or use of a Health 

Information element or segment in a Standard; 
 

(ii)  Adds any Health Information elements or segments to the maximum 
defined Health Information Set; 

 
(iii)  Uses any code or Health Information elements that are either marked “not 

used” in the Standard’s Implementation Specification(s) or are not in the 
Standard’s Implementation Specifications(s); or 

 
(iv)  Changes the meaning or intent of the Standard’s Implementations 

Specification(s). 
 
n.  Indemnity. Business Associate shall indemnify and hold harmless Metro, its 

officers, agents and employees from and against any claim, cause of action, 
liability, damage, cost or expense, including attorneys’ fees, arising out of or in 
connection with any non-permitted use or disclosure of Protected Health 
Information or other breach of this Agreement by Business Associate or any 
subcontractor or agent of the Business Associate. 

 
SECTION 3 - OBLIGATIONS OF METRO 
 
a.  Metro shall notify Business Associate of any changes in, or revocation of, 

permission by Individual to use or disclose Protected Health Information, to the 
extent that such changes may affect Business Associate's use or disclosure of 
Protected Health Information. 
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b.  Metro shall notify Business Associate of any restriction to the use or disclosure of 
Protected Health Information that Metro has agreed to in accordance with 45 
CFR § 164.522, to the extent that such restriction may affect Business 
Associate's use or disclosure of Protected Health Information. 

 
SECTION 4 – TERM, TERMINATION AND RETURN OF PHI 
 
a.  Term. The Term of this Agreement shall be effective when file in the office of the 

Metropolitan Clerk and shall terminate when all of the Protected Health 
Information provided by Metro to Business Associate, or created or received by 
Business Associate on behalf of Metro, is destroyed or returned to Metro, or, if it 
is infeasible to return or destroy Protected Health Information, protections are 
extended to such information, in accordance with the termination provisions in 
this section. The maximum length of the effective term of the contract is sixty (60) 
months from the effective date.  

 
b.  Termination for Cause. Upon Metro's knowledge of a material breach by 

Business Associate, Metro shall provide an opportunity for Business Associate to 
cure the breach or end the violation. Metro may terminate this Agreement 
between Metro and Business Associate if Business Associate does not cure the 
breach or end the violation within fourteen (14) days. In addition, Metro may 
immediately terminate this Agreement if Business Associate has breached a 
material term of this Agreement and cure is not feasible. 

 
c.  Obligations on Termination. 
 

(i)  Except as provided in subsection (ii), upon termination of this Agreement, 
for any reason, Business Associate shall return or destroy as determined 
by Metro, all Protected Health Information received from Metro, or created 
or received by Business Associate on behalf of Metro. This provision shall 
apply to Protected Health Information that is in the possession of 
subcontractor or agents of the Business Associate. Business Associate 
shall retain no copies of the Protected Health Information. Business 
Associate shall complete such return or destruction as promptly as 
possible, but no later than sixty (60) days following the termination or other 
conclusion of this Agreement. Within such sixty (60) day period, Business 
Associate shall certify on oath in writing to Metro that such return or 
destruction has been completed. 
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(ii)  In the event that Business Associate determines that returning or 
destroying the Protected Health Information is infeasible, Business 
Associate shall provide to Metro notification of the conditions that make 
return or destruction infeasible. Upon mutual agreement of the Parties that 
return or destruction of Protected Health Information is infeasible, 
Business Associate shall extend the protections of this Agreement to such 
Protected Health Information and limit further uses and disclosures of 
such Protected Health Information to those purposes that make the return 
or destruction infeasible, for so long as Business Associate maintains 
such Protected Health Information. If Metro does not agree that return or 
destruction of Protected Health Information is infeasible, subparagraph (i) 
shall apply. Business Associate shall complete these obligations as 
promptly as possible, but no later than sixty (60) days following the 
termination or other conclusion of this Agreement. 

 
Section 5 – Miscellaneous 
 
a.  Regulatory References. A reference in this Agreement to a section in HIPAA or 

the HITECH Act means the section as in effect or as amended, and for which 
compliance is required. 

 
b.  Amendment. The Parties agree to take such action as is necessary to amend 

this Agreement from time to time as is necessary for Metro to comply with the 
requirements of HIPAA or the HITECH Act and any applicable regulations in 
regard to such laws. 

 
c.  Survival. The respective rights and obligations of Business Associate shall 

survive the termination of this Agreement. 
 
d.  Interpretation. Any ambiguity in this Agreement shall be resolved in favor of a 

meaning that permits Metro to comply with HIPAA or the HITECH Act or any 
applicable regulations in regard to such laws. 

 
e.  Governing Law. The validity, construction, and effect of this Agreement and any 

and all extensions and/or modifications thereof shall be governed by the laws of 
the State of Tennessee. Tennessee law shall govern regardless of any language 
in any attachment or other document that Business Associate may provide.  

 
f. Venue. Any action between the parties arising from this Agreement shall be 

maintained in the courts of Davidson County, Tennessee.  
 

 

 

 



Metropolitan Government of Nashville and Davidson County
Recipient of Metro Grant Funding

Certifications of Assurance

As a condition of receipt of this funding, the Recipient assures that it will comply fully with the 
provisions of the following laws.

▪ The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) of 1990, 42 U.S.C. Section 12116;
▪ Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended which prohibits discrimination on the

basis of race, color, and national origin;
▪ Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, which prohibits discrimination

against qualified individuals with disabilities;

CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING - Certification for Contracts, Grants, Loans, and 
Cooperative Agreements 
By accepting this funding, the signee hereby certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and 
belief, that: 

a. No federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the
Recipient, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or
employee of any agency, a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of
any federal contract, the making of any federal grant, the making of any federal loan,
and entering into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation,
renewal, amendment, or modification of any federal contract, grant, loan, or
cooperative agreement.

b. If any funds other than federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to
any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any
agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee
of a Member of Congress in connection with this grant, loan, or cooperative
agreement, the Recipient shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, “Disclosure
Form to Report Lobbying,” in accordance with its instructions.

c. The Recipient shall require that the language of this certification be included in the
award documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including sub-grants, subcontracts,
and contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all sub-
recipients of federally appropriated funds shall certify and disclose accordingly.

______________________________________ 
Signature of Authorized Representative 
Name: ________________________________
Title: _________________________________
Agency Name: __________________________
Date: _________________________________

METROPOLITAN GOVERNMENT OF NASHVILLE AND DAVIDSON COUNTY

Department of Finance
700 President Ronald Reagan Way, STE 201

Nashville, Tennessee 37210
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Metropolitan Government of Nashville and Davidson County
Recipient of Metro Grant Funding

Non-Profit Grants Manual Receipt Acknowledgement

As a condition of receipt of this funding, the recipient acknowledges the following:

• Receipt of the Non-Profit Grants Manual, updated February 2, 2023,
issued by the Division of Grants and Accountability.  Electronic version
can be located at the following:  Non-Profit Grant Resources

• The recipient has read, understands and hereby affirms that the agency
will adhere to the requirements and expectations outlined within the Non-
Profit Grants Manual.

• The recipient understands that if the organization has any questions
regarding the Non-Profit Grants Manual or its content, they will consult
with the Metro department that awarded their grant.

*Note to Organizations: Please read the Non-Profits Grants Manual carefully to
ensure that you understand the requirements and expectations before signing
this document.

______________________________________ 
Signature of Authorized Representative
Name: ________________________________
Title: _________________________________
Agency Name: __________________________
Date: _________________________________

METROPOLITAN GOVERNMENT OF NASHVILLE AND DAVIDSON COUNTY

Department of Finance
700 President Ronald Reagan Way, STE 201

Nashville, Tennessee 37210

Attachment D
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CHARTER 

OF 

MENTAL HEALTH COOPERATIVE, .:Ne. 

The undersigned, ~aving capacity to contract and acting as 
the incorporator of a corporation under the T~nnessee Nonprofit 
Corporation Act, as amended, adopts the followin~char'1ter ?£or such 
corporation: 

Inc. 
l. The na111e of the corporation ·1S;Menta1 Heal_t _h Cooperative, 

I •:,' ,r 
~ . ,., , . 

L : I _,_ ~:.. -~ 

2. The corporation is a public benefi t ~corporation.-i 
vs~c ~~--My :,,- : ··:.-:: 

J .... . ~.-l'.b.e, co~a-tion is not a religious corporation. 

4. The street address and zip code of the corporation's 
initial registered office is 1 NationsBank Plaza, H-2, Nashville, 
Tennessee )72)9, c/o Michael D. McKay: the county in which such 
office is located is Davidson. The name of its initial registered 
agent at the office shall be Michael o. McKay. 

s. The name and address of the incorporator of the 
corpora ti.on. i.s; ...... . 

Michael D. McKay 
1 NationsBank Plaza 
K-2 
Nashville, Tennessee )7239 

6. The street address and zip code of the principal office 
of the corporation is 1 NationsBank Plaza, M-2, Nashville, 
Tennessee 37239. 

7. The corporation is not for profit. 

a. .. The-corpo.rati.on .. shall not have members. 

9. The purpose or purposes for ...,hich the corporation is 
organized are: 

(a) to provide individuals in Davidson Ccunty, Tennessee with 
illllllediate access to the highest quality mental health services 
appropriate to thP.ir specific needs by engaging in the following 
activities: 

( i) implementing service prog:-ams, including but 
not limited to assessment/clinical evaluation, mobile 
crisis response·; emergency psychiatric services, outreach 
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(ii) establishing a 

• • •· l3RJ1\~T:. .... • .. , . •- .. -increase accountability, 
S~CRE ;t. •: :: ; capabilities; 

computerized data base to 
efficiency, and reporting 

( iii) administering the authorization/certification 
process that deteniines conswner eligibility for 
publicly-funded services and level of care; 

Mt..~ ; 8 i993 
(iv) interfacing with mental health consumers and 

fa11ily members to respond, in a proactive manner , to 
community mental health needs- by •J~proving !,he quality 
of existing mental heal th ~•erv lees aTad/or ' the planning 
and development ot new men~al health servi<:=es; i~ 

r, ., ,_ ., - , . 
. , fl - . , ___... ,, _ _ · , 

(v) 1DOnitoring and improving,sth~cos~~~.fe~ctiveness 
of ~ental health services; 

(vi) advocating for the rights of individuals with 
mental health needs and for those individuals, progral:15, 
and aqencies which serve these needs; and 

(vii) assuming on-going responsibility and 
accountability for each individual enrolled in the 
publicly-funded case management system. 

(h) exclusively charitable, educational and/or scientific 
within the =eaning of Section 50l[c)(3) of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") [or any successor provision 
to such sec, ion) . 

10. The corporation shall neither have nor exercise any 
power, nor s hall it engage directly or indirectly i n a ny activity, 
that would invalidate its status ( ! ) As a corporation which is 
exempt from federal income taxation as an organization described 
in Section 50l(c) (3) of the Code (or any successor provision to 
such section), or (2) as a corporation to which contributions are 
deductible under Section 170, 2055 and 2522 of the Code (or ar.y 
successor P~?visions to such sections). 

11. No part of the net earnings of the corporation shall 
inure to the benefit of or be distributed to its directors, 
officers, or other private individuals, except that the corporation 
shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation 
for services rendered and to make p?.yments and distributions in 
furtherance of the purposes set forth in Article 9 hereof. 

12 . No substantial part of the activities of the corporation 
shall · consist of -attempts to influence legislation by propaganda 
or othen.ise; nor shall it in any manner or to any extent 
particip~_te .. in, or i ntervene in ( including the publishing or 
distribution of statements) any political campaign on behalf of or 



I 
I 

t 
l 

l 

1 
I 
l 

lJ'1::,9R&f~~.to- any candidate for public office, nor shall the 
c~f.PEi~11~ge in any activities that are unlawful under 
a~~ [~If)l, state, or local laws. 

BP.~~ --1!~, .. ~e dissolution of the corporation, the board of 
d~~):t:5·;s?fti:il:; · after paying or making provision for the pay,zient 
ora!t 'c:,t' tiie 1'fciliili ties of the corporation, distribute all assets 
of the corporation exclusively for the purposes of the corporation 
in such manner, or to such organization or organizations organized 
and- ope1,a.ted- exclusively for charitable, educatidn.ail, ;cfr $s::-lentific 
purposes as shall at the time qualify as an organization or 
organizations described in Section 50l(c)(J) of the Code (or any 
successor prov is ion to such Section) , ot: to rt.he. .t.~deral. government 
or a state or local government, as the ) .boardr of .. ,d'l'rectors shall 
deterllline. 

1
• , • / i.. , / 

14. A director of the corporati o~ ~~~~ l.:·;~)~.~-~i-~~l;~o the 
corporation for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as 
a director; provided, however, that this provision does not 
eliminate or limit the liability of a director (i) for any breach 
of the director's duty of loyalty to the corporation; (ii) for acts 
or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional 
misconduct or a knowing v iolation of law; or (iii) fo r a 
distribution that i s unlawful . If Tennessee law is amended or 
modified to authorize corporate action eliminating or further 
limiting the personal liability of directors, then the liability 
of a director of the corporation shall thereupon be eliminated or 
limited;"' without the necessity of further amendment of this 
Char ter, to the fullest extent penni tted by Tennessee law. Any 
repeal or modification of the provisions of this Article 14 shall 
not adversely affect any right of protection of a director of t he 
corporation existing at the time of such repeal or modification . 

Dated this /1#, day of August, 1992. 

I 
I 
1 
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Tennessee
Secretary of State

Tre Hargett

Registered Charities Search
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NASHVIL
LE

TN 2/23/2001

 

  CO Number Name Other Names Used Status City State Registration Date

Details

items per page 1 - 1 of 1 items

Secretary of State Tre Hargett
Tre Hargett was elected by the Tennessee General Assembly to serve as Tennessee’s 37th secretary of state in 2009 and
re-elected in 2013, 2017, 2021, and 2025. Secretary Hargett is the chief executive officer of the Department of State with
oversight of more than 300 employees. He also serves on 16 boards and commissions, on two of which he is the presiding
member. The services and oversight found in the Secretary of State's office reach every department and agency in state
government.

mental health cooperative

CO Number

City

101

Details

MENTAL HEALTH COOPERATIVE, INC.
275 CUMBERLAND BEND DRIVE NASHVILLE TN 37228
JENIFER FELTS
(615) 743-1408
www.mhc-tn.org
Status: Active
CO Number: CO4173
Registration Date: 02/23/2001
Renewal Date: 12/31/2025

Purpose
Mental Health Cooperative Inc. (MHC) provides integrated health services that include behavioral health care, primary health
care, addiction services, and community-based care management.  MHC also provides emergency psychiatric services that
include mobile crisis response, crisis stabilization, and partners in care outreach.  Services are provided to adults with serious
mental illness and child & youth with serious emotional disorders.

Financials (27)

Officers (4)

Charity Events (0)
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Purpose
Mental Health Cooperative Inc. (MHC) provides integrated health services that include behavioral health care, primary health
care, addiction services, and community-based care management.  MHC also provides emergency psychiatric services that
include mobile crisis response, crisis stabilization, and partners in care outreach.  Services are provided to adults with serious
mental illness and child & youth with serious emotional disorders.
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Report of Independent Auditor 
 
 
To the Board of Directors 
Mental Health Cooperative, Inc. and Affiliates 
Nashville, Tennessee 
 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements  
 
Opinion 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Mental Health Cooperative, Inc. and 
Affiliates (a nonprofit organization) (“MHC”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as 
of June 30, 2024 and 2023, and the related consolidated statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of MHC as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, and the changes in their net assets and 
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are required to be independent of MHC to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about MHC’s ability to continue 
as a going concern within one year after the date the consolidated financial statements are available to be 
issued. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and, 
therefore, is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered 
material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements. 
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In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing 
Standards, we: 
 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of MHC’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about MHC’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of 
time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters that 
we identified during the audit. 
 
Supplementary Information 
Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole. The consolidating information on pages 24 through 27 is presented for purposes of additional analysis 
and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the consolidated financial statements. The consolidating information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audits of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional procedures, 
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial statements themselves, 
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America. In our opinion, the consolidating information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November 25, 2024 
on our consideration of MHC’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that 
report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of MHC’s internal control over 
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering MHC’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 

 
Nashville, Tennessee 
November 25, 2024 
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2024 2023
ASSETS
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 4,819,484$       12,093,626$     
Investments 76,925,342       70,979,910       
Accounts receivable, net 13,635,715       14,004,278       
Prepaid expenses and other 1,249,205         928,174            
Inventory 943,764            824,924            
Funds held for consumers 3,080,603         3,215,667         

Total Current Assets 100,654,113     102,046,579     

Property and Equipment:
Land 5,288,333         3,944,086         
Buildings, improvements, and housing 17,604,621       16,477,992       
Office equipment 9,414,397         7,364,927         
Leasehold improvements 11,391,774       5,254,573         
Furniture and fixtures 1,106,446         925,095            
Construction-in-progress 2,517,878         4,534,078         

47,323,449       38,500,751       
Less accumulated depreciation (16,352,838)      (14,226,537)      

Property and Equipment, Net 30,970,611       24,274,214       

Other Assets:
Other assets, net 175,078            188,466            
Interest rate swap 662,763            839,564            
Operating right-of-use assets, net 3,443,287         3,608,406         

Total Other Assets 4,281,128         4,636,436         

Total Assets 135,905,852$   130,957,229$   

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 1,870,090$       2,417,801$       
Accrued payroll and related costs 7,774,504         7,653,994         
Current portion of note payable, net of debt issuance costs 210,931            187,331            
Funds held for consumers 3,080,603         3,215,667         
Lease liability 1,025,277         1,027,378         

Total Current Liabilities 13,961,405       14,502,171       

Long-Term Liabilities:
Lease liability, net of current portion 2,496,001         2,649,946         
Note payable, net of debt issuance costs 8,141,500         8,352,431         

Total Long-Term Liabilities 10,637,501       11,002,377       

Total Liabilities 24,598,906       25,504,548       

Net Assets:
Without donor restrictions - controlling interest 108,789,468     102,887,980     
Without donor restrictions - noncontrolling interest (178,389)          (131,079)          

Total Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions 108,611,079     102,756,901     

Net assets with donor restrictions - controlling interest 2,695,867         2,695,780         
Total Net Assets 111,306,946     105,452,681     

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 135,905,852$   130,957,229$   
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Without Donor With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions Total

Revenue and Other Support:
Care management revenue, net 45,421,853$      -$                       45,421,853$      
Contract revenue, other 20,409,613         -                         20,409,613         
Pharmacy revenue, net 14,629,834         -                         14,629,834         
Grant revenue 14,948,633         -                         14,948,633         
Supportive housing revenue 2,293,738           -                         2,293,738           
Investment income, net 7,421,348           -                         7,421,348           
Other income 1,098,713           38,497                1,137,210           
Physical health revenue, net 327,350              -                         327,350              
Rent revenue 634,935              -                         634,935              
Releases from restriction 38,410                (38,410)              -                         

Total Revenue and Other Support 107,224,427      87                       107,224,514      

Expenses: 
Program Services:

Mental health services 66,458,809         -                         66,458,809         
Pharmacy 15,372,062         -                         15,372,062         
Supportive housing 1,749,433           -                         1,749,433           
Physical health services 914,021              -                         914,021              
Utilize health 1,018,482           -                         1,018,482           

Total Program Services 85,512,807         -                         85,512,807         

General and administrative 15,857,442         -                         15,857,442         
Total Expenses 101,370,249      -                         101,370,249      

Change in net assets 5,854,178           87                       5,854,265           
Net assets, beginning of year 102,756,901      2,695,780           105,452,681      
Net assets, end of year 108,611,079      2,695,867           111,306,946      

Net assets attributable to noncontrolling interest (178,389)            -                         (178,389)            
Net assets attributable to controlling interest 108,789,468$    2,695,867$         111,485,335$    
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Without Donor With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions Total

Revenue and Other Support:
Care management revenue, net 45,415,406$      -$                       45,415,406$      
Contract revenue, other 19,970,775         -                         19,970,775         
Pharmacy revenue, net 14,528,499         -                         14,528,499         
Grant revenue 11,630,143         -                         11,630,143         
Supportive housing revenue 1,928,458           -                         1,928,458           
Investment income, net 6,745,210           -                         6,745,210           
Other income 1,310,025           26,662                1,336,687           
Physical health revenue, net 356,192              -                         356,192              
Rent revenue 651,235              -                         651,235              
Releases from restriction 26,749                (26,749)              -                         

Total Revenue and Other Support 102,562,692      (87)                     102,562,605      

Expenses: 
Program Services:

Mental health services 59,448,030         -                         59,448,030         
Pharmacy 14,810,063         -                         14,810,063         
Supportive housing 1,421,469           -                         1,421,469           
Physical health services 740,963              -                         740,963              
Utilize health 686,747              -                         686,747              

Total Program Services 77,107,272         -                         77,107,272         

General and administrative 15,024,948         -                         15,024,948         
Total Expenses 92,132,220         -                         92,132,220         

Change in net assets 10,430,472         (87)                     10,430,385         
Net assets, beginning of year 92,326,429         2,695,867           95,022,296         
Net assets, end of year 102,756,901      2,695,780           105,452,681      

Net assets attributable to noncontrolling interest (131,079)            -                         (131,079)            
Net assets attributable to controlling interest 102,887,980$    2,695,780$         105,583,760$    
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Mental Physical Total
Health Supportive Health Program General and 

Services Pharmacy Housing Services MHC UH Services Administrative Total
Salaries and benefits 59,010,406$    760,790$         -$                     554,865$         744,033$         61,070,094$    6,744,556$      67,814,650$    
Cost of goods sold -                       14,246,748      -                       -                       -                       14,246,748      -                       14,246,748      
Legal and professional 633,865           42,033             1,749,433        65,234             82,643             2,573,208        2,348,153        4,921,361        
Purchased services 869,024           7,823               -                       1,944               91,720             970,511           2,102,143        3,072,654        
Depreciation and amortization 1,898,846        19,885             -                       16,517             28,177             1,963,425        175,781           2,139,206        
Dues and subscriptions 48,179             26,623             -                       16,427             56,004             147,233           1,683,601        1,830,834        
Motor vehicle operations 1,763,678        -                       -                       33                    4,112               1,767,823        52,278             1,820,101        
Insurance 65,000             -                       -                       -                       65,000             1,130,401        1,195,401        
Communications and shipping 442,746           8,974               -                       -                       480                  452,200           527,777           979,977           
Facility rent 545,811           -                       -                       -                       -                       545,811           423,413           969,224           
Supplies 711,732           47,181             -                       79,453             4,148               842,514           109,298           951,812           
Other 72,010             212,005           -                       101,182           7,165               392,362           302,672           695,034           
Interest expense -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       257,369           257,369           
Independent living and consumer needs 206,881           -                       -                       -                       -                       206,881           -                       206,881           
Respite expenses 190,631           -                       -                       -                       -                       190,631           -                       190,631           
Denials and write-offs -                       -                       -                       78,366             -                       78,366             -                       78,366             

66,458,809$    15,372,062$    1,749,433$      914,021$         1,018,482$      85,512,807$    15,857,442$    101,370,249$  

Program Services
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Mental Physical Total
Health Supportive Health Program General and 

Services Pharmacy Housing Services MHC UH Services Administrative Total
Salaries and benefits 52,481,368$    711,765$         -$                     520,831$         390,312$         54,104,276$    7,063,588$      61,167,864$    
Cost of goods sold -                       13,731,082      -                       -                       -                       13,731,082      -                       13,731,082      
Legal and professional 875,684           87,488             1,421,469        5,951               216,350           2,606,942        2,273,276        4,880,218        
Purchased services 1,042,439        10,192             -                       1,761               30,320             1,084,712        1,851,049        2,935,761        
Depreciation and amortization 1,765,755        17,037             -                       12,741             14,955             1,810,488        129,533           1,940,021        
Dues and subscriptions 8,257               27,237             -                       14,367             30,924             80,785             1,242,342        1,323,127        
Motor vehicle operations 1,229,928        -                       -                       -                       202                  1,230,130        40,537             1,270,667        
Insurance 65,000             -                       -                       -                       -                       65,000             1,031,232        1,096,232        
Facility rent 513,270           -                       -                       -                       -                       513,270           365,815           879,085           
Communications and shipping 411,035           9,597               -                       -                       -                       420,632           456,797           877,429           
Supplies 645,442           32,327             -                       58,388             1,324               737,481           87,954             825,435           
Other 175,040           183,338           -                       70,471             2,360               431,209           221,640           652,849           
Interest expense -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       261,185           261,185           
Independent living and consumer needs 152,904           -                       -                       -                       -                       152,904           -                       152,904           
Respite expenses 81,908             -                       -                       -                       -                       81,908             -                       81,908             
Denials and write-offs -                       -                       -                       56,453             -                       56,453             -                       56,453             

59,448,030$    14,810,063$    1,421,469$      740,963$         686,747$         77,107,272$    15,024,948$    92,132,220$    

Program Services
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2024 2023
Cash flows from operating activities:

Change in net assets 5,854,265$         10,430,385$      
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to

net cash flows from operating activities:
Depreciation 2,122,367           1,928,336           
Amortization of debt issuance costs 12,268                12,268                
Amortization of goodwill 6,079                  6,079                  
Amortization of right-of-use assets 10,761                5,606                  
Provision for uncollectible receivables 4,770,749           1,658,200           
Net realized and unrealized gain on investments (4,992,430)         (4,001,389)         
Net loss (gain) on interest rate swap 176,801              (235,044)            
Loss (gain) on disposal 4,269                  (710)                   
Noncash lease expense 8,506                  68,111                
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (4,402,186)         (2,667,154)         
Prepaid expenses and other (321,031)            (295,093)            
Inventory (118,840)            (257,112)            
Other assets 7,309                  8,008                  
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (547,711)            1,599,581           
Accrued payroll and related costs 120,510              991,246              

Net cash flows from operating activities 2,711,686           9,251,318           

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Purchase of investments (62,320,256)       (24,234,350)       
Proceeds from sale of investments 61,367,254         22,102,451         
Purchase of property and equipment (8,823,033)         (5,214,857)         

Net cash flows from investing activities (9,776,035)         (7,346,756)         

Cash flow from financing activities:
Principal payments on finance lease obligations (10,194)              (4,799)                
Net receipts for funds held for consumers (135,064)            928,130              
Payments on long-term debt (199,599)            (228,799)            

Net cash flows from financing activities (344,857)            694,532              

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (7,409,206)         2,599,094           
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 15,309,293         12,710,199         
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 7,900,087$         15,309,293$      

Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following:
Cash and cash equivalents 4,819,484$         12,093,626$      
Funds held for consumers 3,080,603           3,215,667           

7,900,087$         15,309,293$      

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid 234,340$            243,311$            
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Note 1—Nature of activities and significant accounting policies 
 
General – Mental Health Cooperative, Inc. is a not-for-profit organization that provides individuals with immediate 
access to mental health services through mobile crisis response, emergency psychiatric services, clinical 
evaluation, outreach services, and care management, and serves adults with severe mental illness and children 
with serious emotional challenges with locations across Tennessee. Mental Health Cooperative, Inc. also owns a 
membership interest in an on-site pharmacy and an on-site physical health services provider. The pharmacy 
operates as a single member limited liability company under the name NPS Pharmacy, LLC (“NPS”). The physical 
health services provider was formed in February 2013, as a single member limited liability company and operates 
under the name Integrated Health Cooperative, LLC (“IHC”). Mental Health Cooperative, Inc. purchased the assets 
of Mymedmatch, Inc. d/b/a Utilize Health in December 2020 and formed MHC UH, Inc. (“UH”). UH is a for profit 
corporation owned 97% by Mental Health Cooperative, Inc. (see Note 17). 
 
Principles of Consolidation – The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Mental Health 
Cooperative, Inc.; NPS; IHC; and UH (collectively, “MHC”). All significant inter-entity transactions and balances 
have been eliminated in consolidation. 
 
Basis of Presentation – The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the 
accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America (“U.S. GAAP”). Accordingly, net assets of MHC and changes therein are classified and reported as 
follows: 
 

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions – Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed stipulations. 
 
Net Assets With Donor Restrictions – Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations that may or will be 
met, either by actions of MHC and/or the passage of time. When a restriction expires, net assets with donor 
restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the consolidated 
statements of activities as net assets released from restrictions. Net assets with donor restrictions also 
include net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations that they be maintained permanently by MHC. 
Generally, donors of these assets may permit MHC to use all or part of the income earned for general or 
specific purposes. As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, MHC had no permanently donor-restricted net assets.  

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents – For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, MHC considers all 
highly liquid investments with an initial maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. 
 
Investments – Investments are reported at their fair values in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
financial position. See Note 5 for discussion on fair value measurements. Investment income and unrealized 
gains and losses are reported as changes in unrestricted net assets unless the use of income has been 
restricted by the donor.  
 
Prepaid Expenses and Other – Prepaid expenses at June 30, 2024 and 2023 are primarily comprised of 
advance payments for insurance and licensing fees. 
 
Inventory – Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market using the weighted average method. Inventory is 
primarily comprised of pharmacy medications and supplies. 
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Note 1—Nature of activities and significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Accounts Receivable and Bad Debts – The majority of accounts receivable are due under fee-for-service 
contracts from third party payers, such as insurance companies. Receivables are generally collected within 
industry norms for third party payers. MHC reports accounts receivable net of an allowance for credit losses. 
The allowance for credit losses is based on MHC’s assessment of the collectability of customer accounts 
receivable. The allowance for credit losses is based on the Company’s assessment of the collectability of 
customer accounts receivable. In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 326:  
Financial Instruments – Credit Losses, the Company makes ongoing estimates relating to the collectability of 
accounts receivable and records an allowance for estimated losses expected from the inability of its customers 
to make required payments. The Company establishes expected credit losses by evaluating historical levels of 
credit losses, current economic conditions that may affect a customer’s ability to pay, and creditworthiness of 
significant customers. These inputs are used to determine a range of expected credit losses and an allowance is 
recorded within the range. Accounts receivable are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovery. 
 
Property and Equipment – Property and equipment is recorded at cost. Expenditures for ordinary maintenance 
and repairs are charged to expense. Renewals and betterments that materially extend the life of the assets are 
capitalized. Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets (ranging from 3 to 
40 years) using the straight-line method. 
 
Income Taxes – MHC, with the exception of UH, is exempt from income tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the 
Internal Revenue Code and is not a private foundation. UH incurred a net loss during the years ended June 30, 
2024 and 2023. MHC recorded a full valuation allowance of the deferred tax benefit generated from UH’s net 
operating loss carryforward at June 30, 2024 and 2023. Accordingly, no provision for income tax has been made 
in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
 
Contributions – Contributions are recognized when the donor makes a promise to give to MHC, that is, in 
substance, unconditional. Contributions that are restricted by the donor are reported as increases in unrestricted 
net assets if the restrictions expire in the fiscal year in which the contributions are recognized. Donor-restricted 
contributions are reported as increases in net assets with donor restrictions. When a restriction expires, net 
assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions. 
 
Estimates – The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Estimates 
also affect the reported amounts of revenue and other support and expenses during the period. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. 
 
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements – In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses 
(Topic 326) and subsequently related amendments (ASU 2018-19, ASU 2019-04, ASU 2019-05, ASU 2019-10, 
ASU 2019-11, and ASU 2022-02). This guidance replaces the existing incurred loss impairment guidance and 
establishes a single allowance framework for financial assets carried at amortized cost based on expected credit 
losses. The estimate of expected credit losses requires the incorporation of historical information, current 
conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. MHC adopted this new accounting standard effective 
July 1, 2023 and all of the related amendments using the modified retrospective method. The adoption of this 
guidance did not have a material impact on MHC’s consolidated financial statements. 
 
Subsequent Events – MHC evaluated subsequent events through November 25, 2024, when these 
consolidated financial statements were available to be issued. 
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Note 2—Revenue recognition  
 
MHC follows FASB ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which requires an entity to 
recognize revenue when it transfers the promised goods or services to a customer in an amount that reflects 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods and services.  
 
MHC recognizes revenue for services in accordance with the following five steps outlined in ASC 606:  
 

• Identification of the contract or contracts with a customer 
• Identification of the performance obligations in the contract 
• Determination of the transaction prices 
• Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract  
• Recognition of revenue when or as MHC satisfies a performance obligation 

 
MHC has analyzed the provisions of ASC 606 and has concluded the following: 
 
Care Management – MHC provides services to adults with serious mental illness and adolescents and children 
with a mental illness and emotional disorders. Care management services for these individuals are primarily 
administered to covered persons enrolled in TennCare’s Health Link Program (“THL”) through participating 
provider agreements with managed care organizations. MHC is compensated for its services in accordance with 
the agreed rates as included in the participating provider agreements. In addition, MHC also provides physical 
health services and pharmacy services primarily to these same individuals. Care management revenue, 
physical health revenue, and pharmacy revenue are reported at established rates, net of contractual 
adjustments, charity assistance services, and provision for bad debts. Third party contractual revenue 
adjustments under government reimbursement programs are accrued on an estimated basis in the period the 
related services are rendered. 
 
Contract Revenue – MHC provides crisis walk-in services and mobile crisis response services to adults, 
adolescents, and children in Middle Tennessee. These crisis services are funded through the TennCare 
managed care organizations and are paid on a per member, per month basis based on the total TennCare 
enrollment in Metro Davidson County. MHC also provides therapy services, compensated in accordance with 
agreed rates from participating providers. MHC has several contracts and agreements with Metro Davidson 
County agencies for services at either agreed monthly or per consumer rates, or on a cost reimbursement 
arrangement. Under the THL program, MHC also receives incentive payments through participating providers 
based on agreed-upon quality and efficiency metrics. 
 
Supportive Housing Revenue – MHC operates the Supportive Housing program that assists clients in 
stabilization from their behavioral health symptoms by providing assistance in obtaining housing. Insurance 
companies pay on a per diem basis for each day a client is served. MHC subcontracts with various housing 
entities to provide the supportive housing services. 
 
Consumer Fees – MHC operates facilities throughout Tennessee providing access to mental health services and 
physical health services. Such revenue is included in the net care management revenue, contract revenue, 
supportive housing revenue, and physical health revenue in the consolidated statements of activities. Revenue is 
recognized at a point in time as the consumer receives the benefit of MHC’s services and when collectability is 
reasonably assured. See Note 1 for descriptions of case management, contract, and supportive housing revenue. 
 
Pharmacy Services – MHC operates a pharmacy in its Nashville location primarily for consumers served. Such 
revenue is included in the net pharmacy revenue in the consolidated statement of activities. Revenue is recognized 
at a point in time as the consumer receives the prescribed medicine and when collectability is reasonably assured. 
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Note 2—Revenue recognition (continued) 
 
Contract Balances – Net consumer fees receivable consist of care management, other contract, supportive 
housing, and physical health receivables as well as pharmacy receivables and state incentive payment 
receivables and are recorded within net accounts receivable in the consolidated statements of financial position 
(see Note 4). State incentive payment receivables relate to payments from each managed care organization 
based on achievement of performance metrics outlined in each contract. All other consumer fees receivable 
represent amounts owed for services performed during the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, and are 
primarily related to managed care organizations and private insurance payments that are paid after the claim is 
submitted. Accounts receivable considered uncollectible are charged against the allowance account in the year 
they are deemed uncollectible. The allowance for credit losses is adjusted periodically based upon a review of 
outstanding receivables. Net consumer fees receivables are comprised of the following at June 30: 
 

2024 2023
Care management, supportive housing, and 

other contract receivable 17,899,630$  14,410,202$  
State incentive payments 2,781,101      3,168,734      
Pharmacy receivable 1,829,222      1,418,753      
Physical health receivable 219,882          103,283          

22,729,835    19,100,972    
Less allowance for credit losses (11,312,277)   (6,541,528)     

11,417,558$  12,559,444$  

Performance Obligations – A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or 
service to the customer and is the unit of account under ASC 606. The transaction price is allocated to each 
distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied. 
MHC’s contracts with customers do not typically include multiple performance obligations. 
 
Variable Consideration/Payment Terms – MHC’s contracts with customers generally do not result in variable 
consideration or contract modifications. MHC’s THC provider agreements include variable consideration in the form 
of performance-based outcome incentive payments. These payments are based on calendar year performance 
periods. MHC recognizes this revenue at a point in time as outcomes are not determined until the end of a 
performance year. MHC’s payment terms vary based on the rates provided by each managed care organization and 
type of service. The time between invoicing and when payment is due is not significant. MHC’s contracts with 
customers do not generally result in significant obligations associated with returns, refunds, or warranties. 
 
Disaggregation of Revenue – The table below depicts the disaggregation of revenue by service for the years 
ended June 30, and is consistent with how MHC evaluates consolidated financial performance: 
 

2024 2023
Care management revenue, net 45,421,853$  45,415,406$  
Contract revenue, other 20,409,613    19,970,775    
Pharmacy revenue, net 14,629,834    14,528,499    
Supportive housing revenue 2,293,738      1,928,458      
Physical health revenue, net 327,350          356,192          

83,082,388$  82,199,330$  
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Note 3—Liquidity and availability of resources 
 
MHC regularly monitors liquidity required to meet its operating needs and other contractual commitments. For 
purposes of analyzing resources available to meet general expenditures over a 12-month period, MHC considers 
all expenditures related to its ongoing activities of providing programs and services to provide individuals with 
immediate access to mental health services as well as conduct of services undertaken to support those activities to 
be general expenditures. MHC maintains a line of credit with maximum borrowings of $2,000,000 (see Note 8) with 
a financial institution that is drawn upon during the year to manage cash flow, if needed. 
 
As a part of MHC’s liquidity management, it has a policy to structure its financial assets to be available as its 
general expenditures, liabilities, and other obligations come due. MHC considers all expenditures related to its 
ongoing program service activities as well as the conduct of services undertaken to support those activities to be 
general expenditures. Financial assets available for general expenditure, that is, without donor or other restrictions 
limiting their use, within one year of the consolidated statements of financial position date, comprise the following 
at June 30: 
 

2024 2023
Financial assets at year-end:

Cash and cash equivalents 4,819,484$    12,093,626$  
Investments 76,925,342    70,979,910    
Accounts receivable, net 13,635,715    14,004,278    

Total financial assets 95,380,541    97,077,814    

Less amounts not available to be used for general expenditures 
within one year:

Purpose and time restrictions 70,867            70,780            
Financial assets available to meet general expenditures

within one year 95,309,674$  97,007,034$  

Note 4—Accounts receivable 
 
Accounts receivable consists of the following at June 30: 
 

2024 2023
Care management, supportive housing, and 

other contract receivable 17,899,630$  14,410,202$  
State incentive payments 2,781,101     3,168,734     
Grants receivable from Tennessee Department of 

Mental Health and Substance Abuse Services 1,670,648     635,073        
Pharmacy receivable 1,829,222     1,418,753     
Physical health receivable 219,882        103,283        
Other  547,509 809,761        

24,947,992   20,545,806   
Less allowance for credit losses (11,312,277)  (6,541,528)    

13,635,715$  14,004,278$  
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Note 4—Accounts receivable (continued) 
 
As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, MHC care management, supportive housing, and other contract receivables 
consisted primarily of third party payers under TennCare/Medicaid and Medicare contracts.  
 
Mental health services bad debt expense, reported as a reduction to care management revenue on the 
consolidated statements of activities, totaled approximately $4,100,000 and $1,400,000 for the years ended 
June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. NPS bad debt expense reported as a reduction to pharmacy revenue on 
the consolidated statements of activities totaled approximately $653,000 and $288,000 for the years ended 
June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. In addition, physical health services bad debt expense, reported as a 
reduction to physical health revenue on the consolidated statements of activities totaled approximately $134,000 
and $27,000 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  
 
Note 5—Investments 
 
MHC records investments at fair value. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset 
or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) as opposed to the price that would be paid to acquire the asset or 
received to assume the liability (an entry price). A fair value measure should reflect the assumptions that market 
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, including the assumption about the risk inherent in a 
particular valuation technique, the effect of a restriction on the sale or use of an asset, and the risk of 
nonperformance. A fair value hierarchy is used that prioritizes inputs to valuation techniques. The hierarchy 
gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets (Level 1 
measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the 
fair value hierarchy are described below: 
 

Level 1 – Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities 
in active markets that MHC has the ability to access. 
 
Level 2 – Inputs to the valuation methodology include the following: 
 

• quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; 
• quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets; 
• inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; and 
• inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by 

correlation or other means. 
 
If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, the Level 2 input must be observable for 
substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 
 
Level 3 – Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value 
measurement. 

 
The asset’s or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level 
of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Valuation techniques used need to maximize the 
use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. There have been no changes in the 
methodology used at June 30, 2024 or 2023. A description of the valuation methodology used for assets 
measured at fair value is as follows: 
 

U.S. Government Securities, Corporate Bonds, Foreign Bonds, Stocks, Mutual Funds, Exchange Traded 
Securities, Asset-backed Securities and Mortgage-backed Securities, and Other Short Term Investments – 
Valued at the closing price reported on the active market on which the individual securities are traded. 
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Note 5—Investments (continued) 
 
The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, MHC’s investments at fair value as of 
June 30, 2024: 
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
U.S. government securities:

Federal government agencies -$                   26,341$          -$                   26,341$          
U.S. Treasury -                     6,458,162      -                     6,458,162      

Total U.S. government securities -                     6,484,503      -                     6,484,503      

Corporate bonds:
Banking/financial industry -                     2,416,460      -                     2,416,460      
Energy -                     534,293          -                     534,293          
Technology industry -                     161,173          -                     161,173          
Consumer staples -                     299,556          -                     299,556          
Consumer cyclical -                     110,092          -                     110,092          
Healthcare -                     646,912          -                     646,912          
Industrials -                     211,114          -                     211,114          
Communication -                     433,757          -                     433,757          

Total corporate bonds -                     4,813,357      -                     4,813,357      

Foreign bonds:
Banking/financial industry -                     556,684          -                     556,684          
Healthcare -                     33,947            -                     33,947            

-                     590,631          -                     590,631          

Stocks:
U.S. large cap 5,002,916      -                     -                     5,002,916      
U.S. mid cap 5,428,890      -                     -                     5,428,890      
U.S. small cap 2,713,958      -                     -                     2,713,958      
International developed 2,586,107      -                     -                     2,586,107      
Emerging markets 2,005,408      -                     -                     2,005,408      
Other 1,122              -                     -                     1,122              

17,738,401    -                     17,738,401    

Mutual funds:
Large cap blend 9,020,845      -                     -                     9,020,845      
Mid cap blend 2,621,965      -                     -                     2,621,965      
Large growth 2,196,172      -                     -                     2,196,172      
Diversified emerging markets 2,103,324      -                     -                     2,103,324      
Foreign large blend 4,457,338      -                     -                     4,457,338      
Small blend 1,357,334      -                     -                     1,357,334      
Other 973,130          -                     -                     973,130          

Total exchange traded securities 22,730,108    -                     -                     22,730,108    

Asset-backed securities and 
mortgage-backed securities -                     9,875,553      -                     9,875,553      

Other short-term investments 14,692,789    -                     -                     14,692,789    
Total assets at fair value 55,161,298$  21,764,044$  -$                   76,925,342$  
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Note 5—Investments (continued) 
 
The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, MHC’s investments at fair value as of 
June 30, 2023: 
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
U.S. government securities:

Federal government agencies -$                   1,835,253$    -$                   1,835,253$    
U.S. Treasury -                     1,652,503      -                     1,652,503      

Total U.S. government securities -                     3,487,756      -                     3,487,756      

Corporate bonds:
Banking/financial industry -                     312,675          -                     312,675          
Energy -                     138,402          -                     138,402          
Technology industry -                     524,327          -                     524,327          
Consumer goods and retail -                     341,285          -                     341,285          
Healthcare -                     39,140            -                     39,140            
Industrials -                     237,607          -                     237,607          
Real estate -                     67,064            -                     67,064            

Total corporate bonds -                     1,660,500      -                     1,660,500      

Exchange traded securities:
Large cap blend 13,101,037    -                     -                     13,101,037    
Mid cap blend 1,651,052      -                     -                     1,651,052      
High yield bond 823,892          -                     -                     823,892          
Mid cap value 2,953,031      -                     -                     2,953,031      
Consumer cyclical 4,388,686      -                     -                     4,388,686      
Systematic trend 1,961,587      -                     -                     1,961,587      
Corporate bond 1,633,392      -                     -                     1,633,392      
Large value 7,710,723      -                     -                     7,710,723      
Inflation-protected bond fund 531,545          -                     -                     531,545          
Intermediate term bond fund 1,862,519      -                     -                     1,862,519      
Long government bond fund 2,596,211      -                     -                     2,596,211      
Europe stock 5,613,034      -                     -                     5,613,034      
Intermediate government bond fund 1,103,605      -                     -                     1,103,605      
Short-term bond fund 511,149          -                     -                     511,149          
Ultrashort bond fund 517,654          -                     -                     517,654          
Bank loan fund 780,127          -                     -                     780,127          
Diversified emerging markets 938,605          -                     -                     938,605          
Other 804,543          -                     -                     804,543          

Total exchange traded securities 49,482,392    -                     -                     49,482,392    

Other short-term investments 16,349,262    -                     -                     16,349,262    
Total assets at fair value 65,831,654$  5,148,256$    -$                   70,979,910$  
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Note 6—Note payable 
 
MHC entered into a term loan in June 2020 in the amount of $9,222,500 to finance the purchase of land and 
building serving as its Nashville headquarters. The total purchase price was approximately $10,850,000. The 
note matures in June 2027 and is secured by substantially all of MHC’s business assets. This note requires 
monthly principal plus interest payments at a variable rate (6.80% at June 30, 2024). The principal payment 
amount increases annually, beginning at $16,700 per month and eventually reaching $19,700 per month.  
 
Debt issuance costs related to the note payable are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
related borrowings, which approximates the interest method. Amortization expense for debt issuance costs, 
which is recorded within interest expense was $12,268 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
 
Maturities of the note payable are as follows for the years ending June 30: 
 
2025 210,931$       
2026 216,931          
2027 7,924,569      

8,352,431$    

Note 7—Interest rate swap agreement  
 
MHC entered into an interest rate swap arrangement effective June 2020 with a financial institution which 
effectively fixed the interest rate on the variable rate note payable. The notional amount of the interest rate 
swap agreement, which matures in June 2027 was $8,388,500 as of June 30, 2024.  
 
MHC’s purpose for entering into the swap arrangement was to hedge against the risk of interest rate increases 
on the variable interest rate note payable. The fair value of the swap agreement was $662,763 and $839,564 as 
of June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
Note 8—Line of credit 
 
At June 30, 2024 and 2023, MHC had a line of credit with maximum borrowings of $2,000,000 and $4,000,000, 
respectively. The line of credit has a variable interest rate based on the Wall Street Journal prime index rate 
(8.5% at June 30, 2024). Interest is payable monthly and all outstanding principal plus accrued unpaid interest is 
due in December 2025. There were no borrowings outstanding at June 30, 2024 or 2023. 
 
Note 9—Net assets with donor restrictions 
 
Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following purposes or periods at June 30: 
 

2024 2023
Pre-arrest diversion crisis center, purpose restriction 2,625,000$    2,625,000$    
Consumer needs, purpose restriction 70,867            70,780            

2,695,867$    2,695,780$    
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Note 9—Net assets with donor restrictions (continued) 
 
In September 2017, MHC entered into an agreement with the Tennessee Department of Mental Health and 
Substance Abuse Services, whereby funds were made available to MHC by the governmental agency to 
construct a pre-arrest diversion crisis center. Under the agreement, MHC is committed to operate the center 
program for 20 years or be liable for repaying the total amount of the original funds to the governmental agency 
which was provided to them. Management currently plans to operate the program for the specified terms of the 
agreement. 
 
Consumer needs are funds that are to be used for consumers that cannot afford the services provided to them. 
 
Note 10—Leases 
 
MHC leases certain office space, vehicles, and equipment. MHC determines whether a contract contains a 
lease at inception by determining if the contract conveys the right to control the use of identified property, plant, 
or equipment for a period of time in exchange for consideration.  
 
Right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date based on the 
present value of the future minimum lease payments over the lease term. Renewal and termination clauses that 
are factored into the determination of the lease term if it is reasonably certain these options would be exercised 
by MHC. Lease assets are amortized over the lease term unless there is a transfer of title or purchase option 
reasonably certain of exercise, in which case the asset life is used. Certain of our lease agreements include 
variable payments. Variable lease payments not dependent on an index or rate primarily consist of common 
area maintenance charges and are not included in the calculation of the ROU asset and lease liability and are 
expensed as incurred. In order to determine the present value of lease payments, MHC uses the implicit rate 
when it is readily determinable. As most of MHC’s leases do not provide an implicit rate, management uses 
MHC’s incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at lease commencement to determine the 
present value of lease payments.  
 
MHC’S lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive 
covenants. MHC does not have leases where it is involved with the construction or design of an underlying 
asset. MHC has no material obligation for leases signed but not yet commenced as of June 30, 2024. MHC 
does not have any material sublease activities. 
 
Practical Expedients Elected:  
 

• MHC elected the three transition practical expedients that permit an entity to (a) not reassess whether 
expired or existing contracts contain leases, (b) not reassess lease classification for existing or expired 
leases, and (c) not consider whether previously capitalized initial direct costs would be appropriate 
under the new standard.  
 

• MHC has elected the practical expedient not to recognize leases with terms of 12 months or less on the 
consolidated balance sheet and instead recognize the lease payments on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the lease and variable lease payments in the period in which the obligation for the payments is 
incurred. Therefore, short-term lease expense for the period does not reflect ongoing short-term lease 
commitments. Lease expense for such short-term leases was not material for the year ended 
June 30, 2024. 
 

• MHC has elected to account for lease and non-lease components as a single component.  
 

• MHC has elected to utilize the risk-free discount rate to calculate lease assets and liabilities.  
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Note 10—Leases (continued) 
 
Classification of ROU assets and lease liabilities is as follows as of June 30: 
 
Leases Balance Sheet Classification 2024 2023
Assets:

Operating right-of-use assets Operating right-of-use assets, net 3,443,287$       3,608,406$       
Finance right-of-use assets Office equipment 45,149              45,433              

Total lease assets 3,488,436$       3,653,839$       

Liabilities:
Current:

Operating right-of-use assets Lease liability 1,013,049$       1,017,416$       
Finance right-of-use assets Lease liability 12,228              9,962                

Noncurrent:
Operating lease liabilities Lease liability, net of current portion 2,462,200         2,614,133         
Finance lease liabilities Lease liability, net of current portion 33,801              35,813              

Total lease liabilities 3,521,278$       3,677,324$       

 
Future minimum lease payments as of June 30, 2024 are as follows: 
 
Years Ending June 30, Operating Finance
2025 1,125,345$    13,680$          
2026 1,001,692      13,680            
2027 740,624          12,280            
2028 356,161          7,655              
2029 262,195          2,015              
Thereafter 248,533          -                     

Total lease payments 3,734,550   49,310         
Less interest (259,301)        (3,281)            

Present value of lease liabilities 3,475,249$    46,029$          
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Note 10—Leases (continued) 
 
Required supplemental information relating to our leases is as follows for the year ended June 30: 
 

2024 2023
Operating:

Operating building leases, included in facility rent 843,874$       810,511$       
Operating equipment leases, included in purchased services 390,910          264,515          
Operating vehicle leases, included in motor vehicle operations 94,018            86,877            

Finance:
Amortization of assets, included in depreciation and amortization 10,761            5,606              
Interest, included in interest expense 1,443              761                 

Net operating and finance lease cost 1,341,006$    1,168,270$    

Cash flow information:
Cash paid for amounts included in measurement of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows from operating leases 1,294,396$    1,106,057$    
Operating cash flows from finance leases 1,471              631                 
Financing cash flows from finance leases 10,194            4,799              

Lease assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities:
Operating leases 1,002,011      4,628,206      
Finance leases 10,477            50,443            

Lease term and discount rate:
(in years)

Weighted average remaining lease term - operating leases 4.01                4.72                
Weighted average remaining lease term - finance leases 3.74                4.40                

Weighted average discount rate - operating leases 3.81% 3.49%
Weighted average discount rate - finance leases 3.66% 3.42%
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Note 10—Leases (continued) 
 
In June 2020, MHC purchased the land and building it had been leasing for its Nashville headquarters. As part 
of the purchase, MHC assumed noncancelable tenant leases through 2030. Subsequent to the purchase, MHC 
leased additional space within the building through 2025. Future minimum rental receipts for these lease 
commitments as of June 30, 2024 are as follows: 
 
Years Ending June 30,
2025 495,091$       
2026 472,803          
2027 510,920          
2028 510,920          
2029 510,920          
Thereafter 383,190          

2,883,844$    

Rental income from tenant leases for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 amounted to approximately 
$635,000 and $651,000, respectively. 
 
Note 11—Retirement plans  
 
MHC maintains a 403(b) plan for eligible employees. Employees are eligible to participate in the plan upon hire. 
Under this plan, employees may elect to contribute a percentage of their earnings on a pretax basis to be 
invested in one of several alternatives. Additionally, MHC makes matching and profit sharing contributions on 
behalf of eligible employees. The maximum annual contribution is limited by existing Internal Revenue Service 
regulations. During 2024 and 2023, MHC contributed approximately $2,025,000 and $1,958,000, respectively, to 
the plan. Plan liabilities of approximately $190,000 and $188,000 at June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, are 
included in accrued payroll and related costs on the consolidated statements of financial position. 
 
In addition, MHC sponsors a nonqualified deferred compensation plan. The Executive 457(b) Retirement Plan of 
Mental Health Cooperative, Inc. (the “457(b) Plan”) was established to provide deferred compensation for a 
select group of management or highly-compensated employees to accumulate retirement assets. The 457(b) 
Plan enables participants to defer income on a pre-tax basis. At June 30, 2024 and 2023, MHC held assets of 
approximately $973,000 and $805,000, respectively, that are included in investments, which are designated by 
MHC to pay future 457(b) Plan liabilities of approximately $973,000 and $805,000, respectively, which are 
included in accrued payroll and related costs on the consolidated statements of financial position. 
 
Note 12—Funds held for consumers 
 
MHC acts as representative payee of Social Security funds for the benefit of certain consumers. As 
representative payee, MHC makes disbursements of funds in accordance with Social Security guidelines for the 
benefit of the respective consumer. For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, MHC held $3,080,603 and 
$3,215,667, respectively, for the benefit of its consumers. 
 
Note 13—Charity care assistance 
 
MHC provides certain mental health services to individuals who do not have insurance or other means to pay for 
their care. These services represent charity care and are not reported as revenue. The value of charity care 
provided by MHC during the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 was approximately $182,000 and $41,000, 
respectively. 
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Note 14—Risk of loss  
 
MHC is exposed to various risks of loss including medical malpractice, general liability, errors and omissions, 
and other situations. MHC purchases commercial insurance for the significant risk of loss.  
 
Note 15—Concentrations 
 
MHC receives a substantial amount of its revenues from services provided to consumers covered by TennCare 
supported managed care organizations. Additionally, MHC receives a significant amount of support from 
government grants and contracts. A significant reduction in the level of these revenues, if this were to occur, 
may have an effect on MHC’s programs and activities. In addition, the funding received by MHC from 
governmental agencies is subject to audit and retroactive adjustment. However, management does not expect 
the results of any audits to have a significant impact on government funding received. 
 
During 2024 and 2023, MHC maintained deposit accounts with financial institutions whose accounts are insured 
by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”). At June 30, 2024 and 2023, accounts held at FDIC 
insured institutions were insured up to $250,000. Excess uninsured balances at MHC were approximately 
$7,711,000 and $14,435,000 at June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
 
At June 30, 2024 and 2023, investments were managed by brokerage and investment companies with account 
balances totaling $76,925,342 and $70,979,910, respectively. Investments in the account are invested in 
various securities. Investments are generally not insured by FDIC or any other government agency and are 
subject to investment risk, including loss of principal. Investments are insured by the Securities Investor 
Protection Corporation, which covers investor losses, in some cases, attributable to bankruptcy or fraudulent 
practices of brokerage firms. 
 
Note 16—Related parties 
 
MHC has contracts with members of its Board of Directors for consulting services. Additionally, a law firm 
affiliated with a member of the Board of Directors provides legal services to MHC. Total amounts remitted for 
legal services were approximately $332,000 and $232,000 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. Amounts paid under the consulting agreements were approximately $120,000 and $114,000 for 
the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. None of these transactions are considered to be 
individually significant to MHC’s consolidated financial statements. 
 
MHC uses the services of a financial institution, which has one officer that serves on MHC’s Board of Directors. 
These services include the term loan note and interest rate swap described in Notes 6 and 7 and general 
banking services. 
 
Note 17—MHC UH, Inc. 
 
In December 2020, MHC acquired substantially all of the assets and operations of Mymedmatch, Inc. d/b/a 
Utilize Health, through an asset purchase agreement that was, in effect, a business combination. The total 
purchase price was $300,000, which resulted in goodwill of $60,789. The fair value of the noncontrolling interest on 
the date of acquisition was $15,789.  
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Note 17—MHC UH, Inc. (continued) 
 
In November 2023, Mental Health Cooperative, Inc. has converted amounts due from UH totaling $2,294,503 in 
addition to $86,527 of additional contribution into 1,208,645 shares of UH common stock. As a result of this 
transaction, Mental Health Cooperative, Inc. owns 97% of UH. 
 
Following is a schedule depicting the change in consolidated net assets without donor restrictions attributable to 
MHC UH, Inc. 
 

Controlling Noncontrolling 
Total Interest Interest

Balance June 30, 2022 (762,128)$      (682,821)$      (79,307)$        
Change in net assets from activities (1,187,423)     (1,135,651)     (51,772)          
Balance June 30, 2023 (1,949,551)     (1,818,472)     (131,079)        
Contribution 2,381,030      2,381,030      -                     
Change in net assets from activities (1,364,608)     (1,317,298)     (47,310)          
Balance June 30, 2024 (933,129)$      (754,740)$      (178,389)$      

Note 18—Land purchase 
 
In March 2024, MHC entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement to purchase land in Murfreesboro, 
Tennessee for $1,341,000 to construct a building for its services in Rutherford County, Tennessee. The 
purchase is recorded as land on the consolidated statements of financial position. 
 
 



 

 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
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Mental Health NPS Integrated Health
Cooperative, LLC Pharmacy, LLC Cooperative, LLC MHC UH, INC. Eliminations Consolidated

ASSETS
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 2,496,483$           2,133,732$           155,089$              34,180$                -$                         4,819,484$           
Investments 76,925,342           -                           -                           -                           -                           76,925,342           
Accounts receivable, net 12,907,031           687,053                41,631                  -                           -                           13,635,715           
Prepaid expenses and other 8,755,129             6,569                    5,853                    9,561 (7,527,907)           1,249,205             
Inventory -                           943,764                -                           -                           -                           943,764                
Funds held for consumers 3,080,603             -                           -                           -                           -                           3,080,603             

Total Current Assets 104,164,588         3,771,118             202,573                43,741                  (7,527,907)           100,654,113         

Property and Equipment:
Land 5,288,333             -                           -                           -                           -                           5,288,333             
Buildings, improvements, and housing 17,604,621           -                           -                           -                           -                           17,604,621           
Office equipment 9,176,301             68,796                  30,589                  138,711                -                           9,414,397             
Leasehold improvements 11,281,110           73,077                  32,857                  4,730                    -                           11,391,774           
Furniture and fixtures 1,089,817             14,211                  2,418                    -                           -                           1,106,446             
Construction in progress 2,517,878             -                           -                           -                           -                           2,517,878             

46,958,060           156,084                65,864                  143,441                -                           47,323,449           
Less accumulated depreciation (16,095,699)         (152,229)              (65,864)                (39,046)                -                           (16,352,838)         

Property and Equipment, Net 30,862,361           3,855                    -                           104,395                -                           30,970,611           

Other Assets:
Other assets, net 136,072                -                           -                           39,006                  -                           175,078                
Interest rate swap 662,763                -                           -                           -                           -                           662,763                
Right-of-use assets, net 3,443,287             -                           -                           -                           -                           3,443,287             
Investment in affiliates (3,654,048)           -                           -                           -                           3,654,048             -                           

Total Other Assets 588,074                -                           -                           39,006                  3,654,048             4,281,128             

Total Assets 135,615,023$       3,774,973$           202,573$              187,142$              (3,873,859)$         135,905,852$       

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 1,581,100$           2,556,423$           4,177,961$           1,082,513$           (7,527,907)$         1,870,090$           
Accrued payroll and related costs 7,594,278             116,420                26,048                  37,758                  -                           7,774,504             
Current portion of note payable, 

net of debt issuance costs 210,931                -                           -                           -                           -                           210,931                
Funds held for consumers 3,080,603             -                           -                           -                           -                           3,080,603             
Lease liability 1,025,277             -                           -                           -                           -                           1,025,277             

Total Current Liabilities 13,492,189           2,672,843             4,204,009             1,120,271             (7,527,907)           13,961,405           

Long-Term Liabilities:
Lease liability, net of current portion 2,496,001             -                           -                           -                           -                           2,496,001             
Note payable, net of debt issuance costs 8,141,500             -                           -                           -                           -                           8,141,500             

Total Long-Term Liabilities 10,637,501           -                           -                           -                           -                           10,637,501           

Total Liabilities 24,129,690           2,672,843             4,204,009             1,120,271             (7,527,907)           24,598,906           

Net Assets:
Without donor restrictions - controlling interest 108,789,466         1,102,130             (4,001,436)           (933,129)              3,832,437             108,789,468         
Without donor restrictions - noncontrolling interest -                           -                           -                           -                           (178,389)              (178,389)              

Total Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions 108,789,466         1,102,130             (4,001,436)           (933,129)              3,654,048             108,611,079         

Net assets with donor restrictions - 
controlling interest 2,695,867             -                           -                           -                           -                           2,695,867             

Total Net Assets 111,485,333         1,102,130             (4,001,436)           (933,129)              3,654,048             111,306,946         

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 135,615,023$       3,774,973$           202,573$              187,142$              (3,873,859)$         135,905,852$       
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Mental Health NPS Integrated Health
Cooperative, LLC Pharmacy, LLC Cooperative, LLC MHC UH, INC. Eliminations Consolidated

ASSETS
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 6,040,130$           4,105,112$           1,905,862$           42,522$                -$                         12,093,626$         
Investments 70,979,910           -                           -                           -                           -                           70,979,910           
Accounts receivable, net 13,152,952           792,611                58,715                  -                           -                           14,004,278           
Prepaid expenses and other 11,625,305           16,767                  6,303                    3,958                    (10,724,159)         928,174                
Inventory -                           824,924                -                           -                           -                           824,924                
Funds held for consumers 3,215,667             -                           -                           -                           -                           3,215,667             

Total Current Assets 105,013,964         5,739,414             1,970,880             46,480                  (10,724,159)         102,046,579         

Property and Equipment:
Land 3,944,086             -                           -                           -                           -                           3,944,086             
Buildings, improvements, and housing 16,477,992           -                           -                           -                           -                           16,477,992           
Office equipment 7,239,836             68,796                  30,589                  25,706                  -                           7,364,927             
Leasehold improvements 5,143,909             73,077                  32,857                  4,730                    -                           5,254,573             
Furniture and fixtures 908,466                14,211                  2,418                    -                           -                           925,095                
Construction in progress 4,534,078             -                           -                           -                           -                           4,534,078             

38,248,367           156,084                65,864                  30,436                  -                           38,500,751           
Less accumulated depreciation (13,994,763)         (150,946)              (65,864)                (14,964)                -                           (14,226,537)         

Property and Equipment, Net 24,253,604           5,138                    -                           15,472                  -                           24,274,214           

Other Assets:
Other assets, net 143,381                -                           -                           45,085                  -                           188,466                
Interest rate swap 839,564                -                           -                           -                           -                           839,564                
Right-of-use assets, net 3,608,406             -                           -                           -                           -                           3,608,406             
Investment in affiliates (3,297,309)           -                           -                           -                           3,297,309             -                           

Total Other Assets 1,294,042             -                           -                           45,085                  3,297,309             4,636,436             

Total Assets 130,561,610$       5,744,552$           1,970,880$           107,037$              (7,426,850)$         130,957,229$       

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 2,047,524$           3,746,391$           5,314,535$           2,033,510$           (10,724,159)$       2,417,801$           
Accrued payroll and related costs 7,497,575             102,063                31,278                  23,078                  -                           7,653,994             
Current portion of note payable, 

net of debt issuance costs 187,331                -                           -                           -                           -                           187,331                
Funds held for consumers 3,215,667             -                           -                           -                           -                           3,215,667             
Lease liability 1,027,378             -                           -                           -                           -                           1,027,378             

Total Current Liabilities 13,975,475           3,848,454             5,345,813             2,056,588             (10,724,159)         14,502,171           

Long-Term Liabilities:
Lease liability, net of current portion 2,649,946             -                           -                           -                           -                           2,649,946             
Note payable, net of debt issuance costs 8,352,431             -                           -                           -                           -                           8,352,431             

Total Long-Term Liabilities 11,002,377           -                           -                           -                           -                           11,002,377           

Total Liabilities 24,977,852           3,848,454             5,345,813             2,056,588             (10,724,159)         25,504,548           

Net Assets:
Without donor restrictions - controlling interest 102,887,978         1,896,098             (3,374,933)           (1,949,551)           3,428,388             102,887,980         
Without donor restrictions - noncontrolling interest -                           -                           -                           -                           (131,079)              (131,079)              

Total Net Assets 102,887,978         1,896,098             (3,374,933)           (1,949,551)           3,297,309             102,756,901         

Net assets with donor restrictions - 
controlling interest 2,695,780             -                           -                           -                           -                           2,695,780             

Total Net Assets 105,583,758         1,896,098             (3,374,933)           (1,949,551)           3,297,309             105,452,681         

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 130,561,610$       5,744,552$           1,970,880$           107,037$              (7,426,850)$         130,957,229$       
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Mental Health NPS Integrated Health
Cooperative, LLC Pharmacy, LLC Cooperative, LLC MHC - UH Eliminations Consolidated

Revenue and Other Support:
Care management revenue, net 45,421,853$         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         45,421,853$         
Contract revenue, other 20,409,613           -                           -                           -                           -                           20,409,613           
Pharmacy revenue, net -                           14,629,834           -                           -                           -                           14,629,834           
Grant revenue 14,948,633           -                           -                           -                           -                           14,948,633           
Supportive housing revenue 2,293,738             -                           -                           -                           -                           2,293,738             
Investment income, net 4,774,701             -                           -                           -                           2,646,647             7,421,348             
Other income 1,388,714             -                           -                           -                           (251,504)              1,137,210             
Physical health revenue, net -                           -                           327,350                -                           -                           327,350                
Rent revenue 634,935                -                           -                           -                           -                           634,935                

Total Revenue and .
   Other Support 89,872,187           14,629,834           327,350                -                           2,395,143             107,224,514         

Expenses:
Program Services:

Mental health services 66,458,809           -                           -                           -                           -                           66,458,809           
Pharmacy -                           15,372,062           -                           -                           -                           15,372,062           
Supportive housing 1,749,433             -                           -                           -                           -                           1,749,433             
Physical health services -                           -                           914,021                -                           -                           914,021                
Utilize health -                           -                           -                           1,361,108             (342,626)              1,018,482             

Total Program Services 68,208,242           15,372,062           914,021                1,361,108             (342,626)              85,512,807           
General and administrative 15,762,370           51,740                  39,832                  3,500                    -                           15,857,442           

Total Expenses 83,970,612           15,423,802           953,853                1,364,608             (342,626)              101,370,249         

Change in net assets 5,901,575             (793,968)              (626,503)              (1,364,608)           2,737,769             5,854,265             
Net assets, beginning of year 105,583,758         1,896,098             (3,374,933)           (1,949,551)           3,297,309             105,452,681         

Contribution of net assets -                           -                           -                           2,381,030             (2,381,030)           -                           
Net assets, end of year 111,485,333         1,102,130             (4,001,436)           (933,129)              3,654,048             111,306,946         

Net assets attributable to
noncontrolling interest -                           -                           -                           (178,389)              -                           (178,389)              

Net assets attributable to 
controlling interest 111,485,333$       1,102,130$           (4,001,436)$         (754,740)$            3,654,048$           111,485,335$       
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Mental Health NPS Integrated Health
Cooperative, LLC Pharmacy, LLC Cooperative, LLC MHC - UH Eliminations Consolidated

Revenue and Other Support:
Care management revenue, net 45,415,406$         -$                         -$                         -$                         -$                         45,415,406$         
Contract revenue, other 19,970,775           -                           -                           -                           -                           19,970,775           
Pharmacy revenue, net -                           14,528,499           -                           -                           -                           14,528,499           
Grant revenue 11,630,143           -                           -                           -                           -                           11,630,143           
Supportive housing revenue 1,928,458             -                           -                           -                           -                           1,928,458             
Investment income, net 4,938,287             -                           -                           -                           1,806,923             6,745,210             
Other income 1,761,877             (25,360)                -                           -                           (399,830)              1,336,687             
Physical health revenue, net -                           -                           356,192                -                           -                           356,192                
Rent revenue 651,235                -                           -                           -                           -                           651,235                

Total Revenue and .
   Other Support 86,296,181           14,503,139           356,192                -                           1,407,093             102,562,605         

Expenses:
Program Services:

Mental health services 59,448,030           -                           -                           -                           -                           59,448,030           
Pharmacy -                           14,810,063           -                           -                           -                           14,810,063           
Supportive housing 1,421,469             -                           -                           -                           -                           1,421,469             
Physical health services -                           -                           740,963                -                           -                           740,963                
Utilize health -                           -                           -                           1,186,784             (500,037)              686,747                

Total Program Services 60,869,499           14,810,063           740,963                1,186,784             (500,037)              77,107,272           
General and administrative 14,944,525           44,671                  35,113                  639                       -                           15,024,948           

Total Expenses 75,814,024           14,854,734           776,076                1,187,423             (500,037)              92,132,220           

Change in net assets 10,482,157           (351,595)              (419,884)              (1,187,423)           1,907,130             10,430,385           
Net assets, beginning of year 95,101,601           2,247,693             (2,955,049)           (762,128)              1,390,179             95,022,296           

Net assets, end of year 105,583,758         1,896,098             (3,374,933)           (1,949,551)           3,297,309             105,452,681         

Net assets attributable to
noncontrolling interest -                           -                           -                           (131,079)              -                           (131,079)              

Net assets attributable to 
controlling interest 105,583,758$       1,896,098$           (3,374,933)$         (1,818,472)$         3,297,309$           105,583,760$       
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Report of Independent Auditor on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements 

Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
 
 
To the Board of Directors 
Mental Health Cooperative, Inc. and Affiliates 
Nashville, Tennessee 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States, the consolidated financial statements of Mental Health Cooperative, 
Inc. and Affiliates (“MHC”) a nonprofit organization, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as of June 30, 2024, and the related consolidated statement of activities, functional expenses, and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements, and have issued 
our report thereon dated November 25, 2024. 
 
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
In planning and performing our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we considered MHC’s internal 
control over financial reporting (“internal control”) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of MHC’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express 
an opinion on the effectiveness of MHC’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial 
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal 
control that we consider to be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. However, material weaknesses 
may exist that have not been identified. 
 
Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether MHC’s consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of consolidated financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with 
those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported 
under Government Auditing Standards. 
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Purpose of this Report 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and 
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of MHC’s internal control or on 
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering MHC’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable 
for any other purpose. 
 

 
 
Nashville, Tennessee 
November 25, 2024 
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